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OPENING

The conference was opened
by its chair, Masa Grodnikiene,
assistant to the LJC chairman.
She informed the audience that
the event was organised by the
LJC and the Lithuanian Tzemach
Shabad Jewish Medical Person-
nel Association and executive
committee. Conference partners
and sponsors - JDC (JOINT), LJC,
and the State Vilna Gaon Jewish
Museum (VZM).

Participants honoured the
memory of the Jewish medical
personnel killed during the Se-
cond World War, in pogroms,
mass exterminations, Nazi estab-
lished ghettoes and concentra-
tion camps, in the struggle
against German fascism, during
the time of Stalinist repressions,
and those who died after the war,
with a minute of silence.

Greetings to the conference
participants arrived from Lithua-
nian ambassador to the Russian
Federation, A.Vinkus, and from di-
rector general of “SICOR Bio-
tech”, prof. V.A.Bumel.

LJC cha-
irman S.Al-
peravicius
gave the
introducto-
ry address.
| He said that
by the se-
cond half of
the 19th cen-
tury, distin-
B (" W guished Je-

S.Alperaviéius. | Wish physi-

clitaiin's
M.Trachtenberg, L.Stembo,
V.Froisteiner, L.Sanelson, and
L.Gershun were already working
in Vilnius. By the beginning of the
20th century, Jews made up
about half of all Vilnius doctors.
Many of the Jewish doctors were
well known for their irreproachab-
le comprehension of the art of
healing, their unselfishness, and
their sensitivity to patients re-
gardless of social class. Jewish
physicians upheld the rules of tra-
ditional Jewish ethics. They ga-
ve priority to public health prob-
lems, the fostering and strengt-
hening of children’s health, and
public hygiene education. The
names of doctors Jakov Vygods-
ki and Tzemach Shabad have
been written into the history of Vil-
nius medicine for time immemo-
rial. They were a part of organi-
sations like the Vilnius Jewish
Physicians Union, and the sour-
ces of OZE-TOZ.

The doctors who ended up in
the Vilna Ghetto worked with
unprecedented effort to maintain
the health of the ghetto prisoners
and to safeguard their life. The
majority of the ghetto medical
personnel and their patients we-
re killed in Paneriai and in con-
centration camps. Jewish medi-
cal personnel took part in the
struggle against fascism in the
ranks of the 16th Lithuanian Di-
vision, and Jewish physicians
suffered repressions during the
Stalin regime. Nevertheless, in
the second half of the 20th cen-
tury, they made a significant
contribution to the development
of the study and practice of me-
dicine in Lithuania - they trained
doctors, and successfully hea-
ded various medical institutions.
With the restoration of indepen-
dence in Lithuania, the staff at
the “Ezra” medical consultation
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centre, and at T.Shabad public
organisations carried on the tra-
ditions of Jewish medical wor-
kers.

Chaim Burstein, chief rabbi
of Lithuania and Vilnius, remin-
ded the conference participants
of the traditional ethical princip-
les of the physician-patient re-
lationship.

100TH ANNIVERSARY OF THE FIRST IEWISH PHYSIGIANG ASSOGIATION

doctor A.Virshubski, implemen-
ted a questionnaire to study the
health condition of the Jews.
The Doctors’ Circle tempora-
rily suspended its activities du-
ring the First World War because
most of its members were con-
scripted into the Russian army.
In December 1918, A.Vir-
shubski called a council at which

that suggestion.

A significant event for Jewish
medical personnel was the Vil-
nius and Novogrudok province
congress of Jewish physicians,
which took place at YIVO in Vil-
nius on May 16-17, 1937. 220 de-
legates attended the congress.
The introductory speech by Un-
ion chair E.Sedlis, and the pre-
sentations and discussions were
dedicated to the problems that
Jewish physicians encountered

The first public organisation uniting Jews on the principle of professional commona-
lity - a union of Jewish physicians - was registered with the Vilnius magistrate on Novem-
ber 21, 1910. On the occasion of the 100th anniversary of this event, a scientific conferen-
ce of medical personnel was organised at the Yascha Heifetz Hall at the Lithuanian Je-
wish Community (LJC) on November 14, 2010. Invited guests included LJC members,
medical personnel, members of the Lithuanian Polish Medical Personnel Association and
the Lithuanian Physicians Union, head physicians at the Vilnius University clinics, repre-
sentatives from the Ministry of Health Care, education workers, and researchers of the
history of medicine in Lithuania. Over sixty participants joined in the work of the confe-
rence. A specially erected screen was used to display the themes of the conference and of
the seven most important presentations, and to demonstrate presentation illustrations.

FROM A CIRCLE TO A UNION

OF JEWISH PHYSICIANS

Therapeutic physician Osip
Mackin dedicated his presenta-
tion to the Vilnius and Vilnius ter-
ritory Union of Jewish Physicians.
The formation of a Union of Je-
wish Physicians was motivated by
the catastrophic
sanitary and hy-
giene conditions
in Vilnius and
province, igno-
rance regarding
hygiene on the
part of the Jewish |
population, insuf-
ficient interest on
the part of the go-
vernment regar-
ding medical aid
for the popula- 0 3
tion, insufficient 0. Mackin.

the work of the Doctors' Circle
was renewed. At the suggestion
of doctor G.Gershun, in April
1920 the Doctors’ Circle was re-
gistered as the Union of Jewish
Physicians. It had sixty-four
members. An insurance covered
hospital was established in 1922,
and the Union members ensured
that it was accessible to as
many Jewish people as
possible, and that it inclu-
ded personnel who could
speak the patients’ mother
tongue - Yiddish.

In order to help mem-
bers find work according to
their profession, the Union
established an “employ-
ment bureau”. An out-pa-
tient clinic with sixty diver-
se specialists was set up in
1926. For six years, the cli-
nic was a centre of applied

prophylactic care
regarding epidemics, and a high
illness and child mortality rate.

At the beginning of the 20th
century, there was a great increa-
se in the role of Jewish physicians
in the public life of medical per-
sonnel in Vilnius and environs,
but theéy had a hard time getting
work and upgrading their qualifi-
cations. In 1908, doctor J.Vygods-
ki, and physicians G.Volfson and
A.Shildkret were instrumental in
forming the “Doctors’ Circle”. lis
most important goals included to
unite professional, scientific, and
public interests; to study the mem-
bers' professional, living, and
work conditions, and to defend
their social and economic inte-
rests; to study the life of the Vil-
nius population from a medical
and sanitation aspect; to organi-
se the means to improve living
and health conditions for the
Jews. The organisation’s statutes
included the means to form a
court of honour, to organise con-
ferences, pension funds, a mutual
aid fund, upgrading courses, out-
patient clinics and hospitals, etc.
J.Vygodski was elected chair of
the organisation.

At their regularly held Doctors’
Circle meetings, members shared
professional experiences, gave
scholarly presentations, presen-
ted their patients. They amassed
and constantly supplemented a
library of scientific publications.
A special commission, chaired by

medical aid for the Jews.
The Union actively
fought against periodic at-
tempts by the Vilnius ma-
gistrate to close the Jewish
hospital. A commission ma-
de up of G.Gershun, A.Glo-
bus, G.Ko-varski, together
with the Community and ot-
her Jewish organisations,
succeeded in safeguarding
the hospital, and did not al-
low the city authorities to |
burden the Community with
the expense of maintaining

in small towns and villages. In his
presentation, K.Shapiro empha-
sised that a Jewish physician has
to be a therapist and a public fi-
gure, and work in the sphere of
social medicine. The first double
edition of the Union’s “Medicinishe
shriftn” (Medical Notes), came out
in 1939. The Union of Jewish
Physicians, along with all other
Jewish organisations, was liqui-
dated by the Soviet authorities in
1940.

“The life and work of Jewish
physicians was an integral part
of the multi-faceted life of pre-war
Vilno, which was deservedly
known as Jerusalem of Lithua-
nia,” - said O.Mackinas.

TREATMENT FACILITIES IN
JERUSALEM OF LITHUANIA

Rosa Bieliauskiené gave a
presentation on the history of the
medical institu-
tions in Jerusalem
of Lithuania. Her
information sug-
gested that the first
Jewish hospital in
Vilnius, built with
voluntarily dona-
| ted funds, appea-
red on Jatkova
(now Mésiniu)
Street at the be-
ginning of the 18th
century. Along with

it.

The Union of Jewish Physi-
cians protested against anti-Se-
mitic manifestations by Polish
medical personnel and acade-
mics, who wanted to introduce a
quota for Jews accepted into hig-
her medical schools. In 1931,
the Union, together with other or-
ganisations, defended Jewish
students-medical personnel
against anti-Semitic attacks, and
in 1933, when the Nazis came
into power, they urged that goods
and medical literature brought
from fascist Germany be boycot-
ted. J.Vygodski headed the joint
boycott committee. In 1937,
amidst lingering general anti-Se-
mitic feelings, the question aro-
se whether only Christians
should be members of the Polish
union of physicians. The Vilnius
Union of Jewish Physicians sent
an appeal to all physicians, con-
demning the “Aryan” essence of

free, or inex-
pensive treatment, the hos-
pital was also involved in
charitable works. Patients
were given medications,
and there was help for orp-
hans and old people. The |
hospital thus acquired the
name “Der Chekdesh”
(shelter). Its everyday life
was carried out according
to Jewish traditions: food
conformed to kosher rules,
Jewish feast days were ce-

® Conference participants.

ven a one-time subsidy of 3,000
rubles, and additional annual
funds for its maintenance. In
1842 the hospital came under the
authority of the government, and
in 1858 of the city. At the end of
the 19th century, the Jewish hos-
pital was one of the largest in the
city, with 12 doctors, and room for
1,500 patients.

At various times, the hospital
was headed by L.Samelson,
L.Gershun, V.Zalkind, A.Virshubs-

ki, E.Sedlis.

The “Mishmeres Choilim” wel-
fare association for impoverished
Jewish patients was established
in 1889. The association recei-
ved funds for its charitable work
from member fees, private dona-
tions, and religious organisa-
tions. “Mishmeres Choilim” ope-
ned an out-patient clinic, and in
1913 erected a building in which
it set up a hospital and pharmacy,
(now a hospital), on Kauno St. Me-
dical treatment was provided he-
re free of charge. The clinic and
hospital had bureaus and depart-
ments for the most serious medi-
cal conditions. In 1935, the “Mish-
meres Choilim” association was
given charge of the maternity and
pediatric hospital in the Zverynas
district in Vilnius. Half of all of the
Jewish physicians in Vilnius, inclu-
ding L.Stembo, D.Rozenkrantz,
Z.V.Perelman, worked at the asso-
ciation’s medical institutions, which
were immensely popular.

Vilnius also had quite a num-
ber of private medical institu-
tions, including out-patient and
in-patient clinics established by
Ch.Zartzin, |.Bloch’s maternity
and gynaecological hospital, and
others.

JEWISH HEALTH CARE

ASSOCIATION

Direoctor of the LJC T.Shabad
social centre, Simas Levinas, tal-
ked about the Vilnius branch of
the Jewish Health Care Society
(OZE).

The Society committee selec-
ted Dr. T.Shabad as its head, and
known social medicine activist dr.
I.Rafes as executive secretary.

At that time infectious diseases
were rampant in Vilnius, with
people starving, and unable to find
housing. It was especially difficult
for refugees who had returned
after being deported from Lithua-
nia by the czarist authorities at

—— the beginning of
the First World
War.

OZE first set up
a children’s out-
patient clinic in Vil-
nius, initially hea-
ded by Dr. A.Mako-
ver, later by A.Libo.
The clinic had five
doctors’ offices, an
X-ray facility, and a
| pharmacy. An a\Ire-
. rage of 150 child-
SEeNras ren came to the cli-

lebrated, and the customa-
ry language was Yiddish.
Christians also used the hos-
pital, which was moved to Shpi-
talna (now Ligonines) Street at
the end of the 18th century. Du-
ring its first years of activity, it be-
longed to the Jewish Communi-
ty, but its impoverished state led
the Community to appeal to Rus-
sian Emperor Alexander | for ma-
terial help. The hospital was gi-

nic daily for medical help. After
five years, child mortality decrea-
sed 7.5 times.

In 1919 OZE acquired a
school hygiene department, hea-
ded by Dr. G.Kovarski, which laid
the foundation for medical treat-
ment in schools. Fifteen doctors
looked after the health of 7,000
pupils in all schools and educa-
tional institutions.

(Continued on p.7)
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A mother and child consulta-
tion service in conjunction with a
milk kitchen, called “Tipat chal-
av” (Drop of milk), was set up in
1920. In November of that same
year, a shelter for orphans was
established on Sopeno St.

An adult out-patient clinic,
opened in May 1921, served
1,500 patients every year.

In subsequent years, OZE ex-
panded its activities to other
towns and villages in Vilnius pro-
vince, financed children’s health
camps, playgrounds, supple-
mentary food for children from im-
poverished families, and the
construction and maintenance of
a tuberculosis hospital.

In 1923 the Vilnius OZE joined
a similar Polish association,
TOZ. The “Folks gezunt” news-
paper came out that same year,
and later became popular in ma-
ny countries of the Jewish dias-
pora. During its years of existen-
ce, the paper came out in 300
numbers, and had a total circula-
tion of 0.5 million -copies.

The opening by the associa-
tion of the very first Yiddish lan-
guage nursing school was an
unprecedented event worldwide.
The association also held two
congresses in Vilnius, in 1928
and 1933.

At the end of the 1930s, the
OZE-TOZ board was made up of
doctors D.Jedvabnik (chair),
R.Shabad-Gavronska, R.Sha-
dovski, G.Matz, and others.

According to S.Levinas, the
OZE-TOZ association has not lost
its relevance, including in terms
of today's prophylactic and social
medicine.

VILNA GHETTO MEDICAL
PERSONNEL

Dr. David Shchiupakas spoke
about the heroic efforts of the Vil-
nius medical personnel in sustai-
ning the health of the ghetto pri-
soners.

According to a census of pri-
soners in the Vilna Ghetto, pub-
lished by the VZM, the great ma-
jority of inter-war Vilnius medical
personnel - 120 doctors and 33
dentists - ended up in the ghetto.

In order to curtail the spread
of infectious diseases, in the ve-
ry first days of the ghetto the Ju-
denrat established a department
of health care, headed by R.Sha-
dovski.

The ghetto prisoners lived in
unbearably crowded conditions
and without the most basic of
amenities. They were starving
and constantly in fear for the li-
ves of their children, and tormen-
ted by physical and psychologi-
cal exhaustion and illness - una-
voidable consequences of cons-
tant humiliation and opression.
The children contracted illnesses
related to insufficient nourish-
ment. In order to implement the
tasks of prophylactic medicine, it
was necessary to create a comp-
rehensively considered system of
measures, under horrifying ghet-
to conditions.

The Jewish “Der Chekdesh”
hospital ended up inside the ghet-
to territory. It had departments of
urology, gynaecology, internal
and children’s illnesses, a surge-
ry, eye clinic, X-ray cabinets, cli-
nical laboratory,
and pharmacy.
The experien- |}
ced physician
and talented or-
ganiser E.Sedlis @
was head of the

hospital, which
had 152 staff
people, inclu-

ding 26 doctors.
Over 3,200 pa- |
tients were trea-
ted there in
1942. Difficult
operations were performed.
Twenty-five doctors tended to pa-
tients at the out-patient clinic,
headed by the known physician

/ D.Shchiupakas:

CONFERENCE OF MEDICAL PERSONNEL

100 MHII PIRMAJAI PASAULYJE GYDYTOJY ZYIIII SA.IIINEAI

K.Shapiro. The doctors made ho-
me visits and provided medical
help at any time of the day or
night, which was especially nee-
ded during the Nazi “aktions”.

Urgent medical care was nee-
ded for the children. Under the
efforts of Dr. R.Shabad-Levande,
a children’'s consultation service,
nursery, kindergarten, orphana-
ge, milk kitchen, and school me-
dical centre, serviced by six pae-
diatric doctors, were set up in the
very first days of the ghetto. The
school medical centre took care
of 3,000 pupils.

In order to avoid breakouts of
infectious diseases, the strictest
of control was set up for the sani-
tary conditions of residential and
public buildings, yards, garbage
dumps, etc. A sanitary police for-
ce, and responsible individuals
from among the prisoners them-
selves, regularly checked that the
rules of hygiene were maintai-
ned. Violators were punished with
monetary fines or arrest. All ghet-
to residents had to use the sau-
na; there were vaccination cent-
res, a laundry, barbershops, and
tea shops where hot water for
drinking and hygienic procedu-
res was distributed. Special bri-
gades disinfected and cleaned
the territory.

The physicians’ union and the
OZE-TOZ association continued
to function in the Ghetto. The
“Folks gezunt” newspaper was
transmitted orally. The doctors
spoke to the people on medical
topics of concern to them, and
taught good hygiene habits. Even
under the most difficult of ghetto
conditions, the medical person-
nel carried out their professional
and moral obligations until the
very end, when they were sub-
ject to the same fate as their pa-
tients.

THE FIRST RADIOLOGISTS

Radiologist M.Gutman used
material prepared by Dr. A.Vité-
nas to give an overview of the
academic and practical work of
Jewish radiologists in Lithuania.
According to the presentation, an
X-ray machine was installed at the
Jewish hospital
in 1898, three
years after Ger-
man physicist
V.Roentgen dis-
covered the
rays that were
then given his
name (roent-
gen-rays).

In 1898
L.Stembo and
T.Shabad gave
a presentation
on the X-ray
diagnosis  of

M.Gutmanas.

Doctors F.Kovner and A.Vite-
nas, who now live abroad, made
an important contribution to ra-
diology in Lithuania. They autho-
red, and co-authored, over se-
venty scientific works (including
several monographs).

CONTRIBUTION TO CARDIOLOGY

Cardiologist Robertas Skals-
kis introduced the participants to
the principal landmarks in the li-
fe and work of
known Lithuanian
medical persona-
ges Prof. Ch.Ki-
barski and Dr. B.Ef-
ros.

After graduating
in medicine from
the Vytautas Mag-
nus University,
Ch.Kibarski began
work in 1929 as a
therapist and ra-
diologist at the “Bi-

Fl.kalsk.

regarded by his patients and col-
leagues.

PUBLIC HEALTH CARE

Doctor and hygienist Ela Gu-
rina presented a report on doc-
tors who worked in the social
medical sphere and made im-
portant contributions to Lithua-
nia's public health care servi-
ces. The first scientist in this
area was V.Zalkind, from the
town of Zagaré. His work
was dedicated to the stu-
dy of the sanitation and
hygiene conditions of Vil-
nius, and to data on medi-
cal care for the Vilnius po-
pulation. V.Zalkind publis-
| hed the results of his stu-
dies in a doctorate disser-
| tation entitled “Experien-
ces in the medical-topog-
raphical review of the city
of Vilnius”, which he de-
fended in 1891.

kur Choilim” Jewish hospital in
Kaunas. During 1936-1938 he
continued to train in clinics in
Prague,Vienna, and Zurich. In
1942 he was conscripted into the
ranks of the 16th Lithuanian Divi-
sion. After demobilisation in
1946, he worked as an assistant
at the hospital therapy depart-
ment of the medical faculty at Vil-
nius University. He spent sixty-fi-
ve of his nearly one hundred
years of life treating and consul-
ting patients, and nearly half of
his life teaching students. He fos-
tered several generations of doc-
tors in Lithuania. Ch.Kibarski was
one of the first people in Lithua-
nia to learn how to use an elect-
rograph. He discovered a new
drug for treating high blood pres-
sure, published 170 scientific ar-
ticles in local and foreign publi-
cations, and co-authored several
monographs. For his contribution
to the science of cardiology,
Ch.Kibarski (together with his col-
leagues) was given the Lithua-
nian State Award, and the title
Scientist of Merit.

The celebrated heart surgeon
Dr. B.Efros graduated from the
medical faculty at the Vytautas
Magnus University in 1939. He
was licensed to perform
surgical operations in
1940, and worked at me-
dical institutions in Kaunas
| and Marijampolé. He was
head of the surgery depar-
ment at the Balkhash city
hospital during 1941-
1945. After the war, B.Ef-
ros was head of the surge-
ry department at the Vil-
nius Railway Hospital for
thirty-five years. He was
one of the first surgeons in
Lithuania to defend his
doctorate dissertation. Du-

lung diseases,
and in 1900 L.Stembo studied bo-
ne and internal organ diseases
with his own installed X-ray mac-
hine. Fiver years later he was ab-
le to diagnose lung cancer. The
first professional radiologist,
L.lvanter, worked in this sphere
for forty years, and subsequently
perished in the Vilna Ghetto. Af-
ter the war his son Grigorij, a for-
mer Auschwitz concentration
camp prisoner, also worked as a
radiologist in Vilnius. Sh.Margol,
a celebrated physician, and vice-
chair of the Union of Jewish Phy-
sicians, carried out patient
X-ray studies in inter-war Vil-
nius, and was the ghetto
hospital radiologist. Toget-
her with his colleagues, the
known scientist and radio-
logist Dr. M.Shneider disco-
vered a new method of X-ray
diagnosis - an electrorent-
genograph - which was gi-
ven a State award.

His students and collea-
gues had a very high regard
for Dr. D.Kuntsevich, who
combined scientific, practi-
cal, and pedagogical work. She
was the first radiologist in Lithua-
nia to be awarded the title Doc-
tor of Merit.

ring his lifetime, B.Efros
performed just over 12,000 ge-
neral operations, but heart sur-
gery was the apex of his surgical
skills. On March 12, 1958 B.Ef-
ros performed successful heart
surgery for the first time in Lithua-
nia on a dying patient, and there-
by gave him the gift of twenty-five
more years of life. This operation
has been included in the history
of heart surgery in Lithuania. Du-
ring the five subsequent years,
B.Efros performed circa one
hundred operations on congeni-
tal or acquired heart defects.

B.Efros spent a great deal of
energy in helping to organise
surgical departments in several
Lithuanian cities. He was a man
of great knowledge and many in-
terests: he liked and knew mu-
sic, and created educational and
fiction films. He was well regar-
ded by all who worked with, and
knew him.

Dr. G.Borvein was also known
for his important contribution to
the science and practice of car-
diology in Lithuania. He was the
first to adapt an echocardiograph
diagnostic machine created in Lit-
huania for scientific purposes. He
has worked for many years as a
clinic cardiologist, and is highly

The people
who founded,
and worked at
the Vilnius
OZE-TOZ asso-
ciation and
Kaunas OZE as-
sociation
played an im-
portant role in
the area of
health care for
the Jews of Lit-
huania in the |
first half of the |

E.Gurina.

versity medical faculty.

E.Gurina spoke very warmly
about doctor L.Potashinski, who
was head of the Vilnius centre
for sanitation and epidemiology
for forty years. He was an ener-
getic leader, and had formed a
dedicated and large collective of
colleagues.

The presentations were ani-
mated with photographs of the
doctors, and with graphs and
photographs of the activities of
the various medical institutions.
They were all welcomed with
great attention and interest.

* &k %k

Towards the end of the confe-
rence, moderator M.Grodnikiené
gave a brief review of the Lithua-
nian Jewish public organisations
that had been established under
the auspices of the Lithuanian
Cultural Fund headed by the dis-
tinguished. scientist and public fi-
gure, Dr. Ceslovas Kudaba. She
reminded the conference
participants that on Sep-
tember 19, 1993, a foun-
ding meeting of sixty Je-
wish medical personnel
decided to set up an asso-
ciation of Lithuanian Je-
wish medical personnel,
with elected chair Ch.Ki-
barski, first assistant B.Ef-
ros, and assistants A.Vite-
nas and D.Shchiupakas.

The “Ezra” medical con-
sultation centre was foun-
ded in 1993, with Dr. Mic-

20th century.

L.Epstein was the innovator of
medical care in schools in Lithua-
nia. He set up a public health ca-
re centre for pupils in Kaunas in
1925. In the spring of 1941, as
chief sanitation inspector for Lit-
huania, L.Epstein was in char-
ge of operations to liquidate a
typhoid epidemic, spread by wa-
ter, in Vilnius.

Doctors S.Silman, R.lzrailit,
J.Shtarkas, and D.Krasilshchi-
kov carried on fruitful studies in-
to problems related to the pro-
vision of water. The speaker
shared her personal experien-
ces of working with the well
known epidemiologist K.Lu-
xemburg, an exceptionally
industrious and diligent re-
searcher.

The presentation also fo-
cused on the sanitation and
epidemiology council in Lit-
huania. For example, befo-
re the war, L.Kogan, minis-
ter for health care with the
People’s government in |
1940, published a fair num-
ber of scientific articles on
the question of tuberculosis
epidemiology and prophy-
lactics.

Ch.Teper, who was born

hail Zak at its head. The Je-
wish women’s organisation WIZO
began its work at the same time.
Under the leadership of Rachele
Kostanian, and the active partici-
pation of C.Erenburg and other
women, a list was compiled of
mostly old and single Jewish
people who required medical and
social assistance. Lists were al-
so compiled by other organisa-
tions that came into existence at
that time: the Union of Former
Ghetto and Concentration Camp
Prisoners, and the Union of Se-
cond World War Veterans. A great
deal was accomplished in provi-
dlng support not only to members

: of the Jewish
community
in  Vilnius,
but in the re-
gions as
well.

A great
deal of mate-
rial support
for the medi-
1 cal consulta-

tion centre
came from
Avrom Glik-
man in Great
Britian.
“Ezra”,
now under

M.Grodnikiené.

in Kédainiai, served as a
physician with the 16th Lithua-
nian Division, and worked for
many years as head of the sani-
tation and epidemiology board
of the republic’'s Ministry of
Health Care. Also working the-
re was the highly experienced
epidemiologist T.Podsedlovski.

M.Sheinberg, a talented or-
ganiser and scientist, physician
in a battalion of the 16th Lithua-
nian Division, took part in the ci-
vil war in Spain. He was head
and chief physician at the Vil-
nius Infant Home for twelve
years, head of the virology la-
boratory at the Epidemiology,
Microbiology and Hygiene
Scientific Research Institute of
the Lithuanian Ministry of
Health Care, and engaged in
scientific work in the sphere of
infectious intestinal and viral
epidemiology.

Another distinguished health
care organiser, prof. V.Micelmac-
her from Siauliai, was dismissed
from his position as assistant to
the minister of health care during
the years of the “rootless cosmo-
politan” campaign. He taught the
history of medicine and founda-
tions of health care organisation
for many years at the Vilnius Uni-

the leadership of doctor Ninela
Efros, has been functioning in
the LJC building since 1994. At
various times, consultation to
patients has been provided by
professors Ch.Kibarski and
A.Matulis, doctors M.Zak, V.Bar-
sukaité, G.Borveinas, A.Viténas,
B.Efros, |.Vagman, |.Vainrub,
S.Gandelsoniené, Zioprys, L.Zi-
maniené, Lurje, M.Moskvina,
M.Ostapenko, J.Skliutauskas,
Temkina, A.Toizer, |.Cherkaski,
L.Shperling, J.Shchiupakas,
S.Efron, pharmacists M.Braver-
man, A.Dimenstein, and Kap-
liauskiené, and nurse Olshvang.
J.Gurvich and L.Jacovskaja,
long-time assistants at “Ez-
ra”,were highly respected by
patients and doctors alike.

M.Grodnikiené thanked the
organising committee for the
possibility to hold the conferen-
ce, and J.Zhiburkus for his parti-
cipation in supporting the con-
ference programme.

In his closing words, S.Alpe-
ravi¢ius emphasised the impor-
tance of the conference materials,
and proposed that they be publis-
hed as a separate collection.

Dr. David SHCHIUPAKAS,
Osip MACKIN



